



EPA Support for Climate Change Advisory Council Research Fellowships

Guide for Grantees

September 2020

EPA Support for Climate Change Advisory Council Research Fellowships: Guide for Grantees

This document provides general guidance for Grantees who have been awarded a research grant by the EPA for research support to the Climate Change Advisory Council. For further information, please refer to the relevant Terms & Conditions document available on the <u>Climate Change Advisory Council website</u>.

Contents

1.	Payment of the Research Grant	1
2.	Project Management	2
3.	Interim Reporting Requirements	2
4.	Research Project Meetings	3
5.	Steering Committee	3
6.	Deviation from the Original Proposal	3
	Project Time Extension (with no additional cost)	3
	Project Extension (with supplementary funding)	3
	Maternity, Paternity and Adoptive Leave	4
	Budget Reallocation	4
	Travel Outside the UK and EU	4
7.	Project Outputs and Final Deliverables	4
	Policy Briefs	4
	Final Reports	5
	Datasets	5
8.	Engagement and Communication	5
9.	Termination	6
10	. Intellectual Property	6
11	. Research Integrity	6
12	. Freedom of Information Act	6
13	. Data Protection Law	7
14	. Ethical and Gender Issues	8
15	. Open Access of Publications and Data	8
16	. Further Information	9

1. Payment of the Research Grant

Funding is provided on a discretionary basis by the EPA for research support to the Climate Change Advisory Council (hereby referred to as 'the Council') to the Grantee. The term 'Grantee' is defined in the Notification of Award of Research Grant and includes the lead organisation, the principal investigator and project participants there defined. It means each of them separately and all of them together or any number of them collectively.

Grant awards are subject to the conditions specified in the relevant Terms and Conditions document.

Lead organisations will be responsible for all aspects of management and implementation of the research project. All participants will be required to ensure that accurate accounts of expenditure are maintained. They should maintain appropriate documentation to support and justify the costs and time in their Cost Statements. This documentation must be complete (e.g. include reference material such as purchase order numbers, payment reference numbers, invoices etc.) and accurate. This documentation should be held separately from other project records and be retained for a minimum of three years after completion of the project or seven years after the year in which the expenditure is incurred whichever is the greater.

Payment will be made in response to submission of an invoice accompanied by appropriate Cost Statement and supporting documentation, in respect of eligible expenditure. The only exception to this is an initial advance payment of up to 50% of the grant funding. This will normally be payable within three months of the issue of the notification of the award.

Payment will be made as per the agreed schedule in the Terms and Conditions, subject to the submission of satisfactory six-monthly technical reports together with the required supporting documentation – please note, payment will not be released unless the technical reports are deemed satisfactory and approved by the EPA or its appointed representative (see the relevant Terms and Conditions for details).

Of the total grant aid approved for the project, 25% will be retained in all cases pending satisfactory completion of the project (the retention payment). A project will be deemed to be completed satisfactorily following the approval by the EPA of the following:

- The final invoice
- Datasets and metadata
- Project outputs and final deliverables as referred to in Section 7 of this document

In addition, all journal articles must be published as Open Access.

The final cost statement for the project must be submitted within 28 days of the agreed project completion date. Grantees who do not comply with these requirements may have the 25% of the grant aid withheld and/or be deemed ineligible to apply for future EPA research.

All accounts and financial management systems will be subject to verification and audit by the EPA and/or their appointed representative. These financial management systems must also be open to inspection by the Funding Department(s) and/or the Department of Finance or their nominees for the purpose of their financial control and audit procedures.

Grantees will be required to present a valid tax clearance certificate or Revenue Tax Clearance Access Number (TCAN) prior to grant award in accordance with Department of Finance regulations. Details of how to obtain a tax clearance certificate or TCAN can be found on the Revenue website at the following link: <u>http://www.revenue.ie/en/online/etax-clearance-faqs.html</u>.

Valid tax clearance certificates will be required before payments can be remitted. Grantees are also required to provide valid copies of Public and Employer's Liability insurance and Professional Indemnity insurance (where relevant) which must be updated annually. Evidence of compliance with relevant Health and Safety legislation may also be requested.

2. Project Management

Each project should have a single lead organisation with a nominated principal investigator who will co-ordinate the research and drive the overall objectives. The Principal Investigator has the following specific responsibilities:

- oversee the coordination of the various sub-projects to ensure that all deliverables are met,
- ensure compliance with technical and financial reporting requirements,
- organise and ensure attendance of all relevant parties at all meetings required during the lifetime of the project,
- where a project steering committee has been established, ensure that any recommendations made by it are addressed,
- ensure that data from the sub-projects is provided by participants where required and sent to the EPA, or another data repository as agreed with the EPA.
- ensure that relevance to policy is included in technical and final reports,
- ensure compliance with financial reporting guidelines,
- provide photos, logos etc. as required for communication and dissemination purposes,
- ensure effective dissemination/networking activities are achieved.

Principal Investigators should liaise regularly with the relevant EPA officer, who is managing the project on behalf of the EPA.

3. Interim Reporting Requirements

Cost Statements and Technical Progress Reports should be submitted to the EPA during the lifetime of the project.as per the schedule outlined in the table below.

Project Type	Technical Progress Report	Cost Statements
EPA Support for Climate Change Advisory Council Research Fellowships	28th January & 28th July	As per payment schedule

It is the responsibility of the principal investigator to ensure that reports are submitted in a timely manner and that they are of a satisfactory standard that clearly details financial and technical progress on the project. Any difficulties arising should also be reported together with the actions planned to overcome these difficulties.

4. Research Project Meetings

Progress meetings will be required, including an initial project kick-off meeting and regular interim meetings as outlined below.

A kick-off meeting should be held within one month of the project start-up and should be attended by the member of the EPA overseeing the project, steering committee and the project team. The purpose is to formally initiate the project, to review the project plan (including any agreed revisions) and to discuss project management.

Where appropriate, the Grantee will ensure that members from all sub-projects meet regularly to discuss the various aspects and progress of their sub-projects and ensure integration and sharing of information as part of regular project team meetings. The Grantees should meet regularly with the relevant EPA member overseeing the project to discuss progress and highlight any potential issues. This may occur as part of a steering committee meeting (see section 5 for further details).

5. Steering Committee

The EPA, in consultation with the Grantee, will establish a steering committee to provide advice to the research team and the EPA on the overall direction and approach of the project and to provide an external view of the research. The steering committee will also advise on the contents and structure of the final report.

The steering committee should comprise appropriate individuals, including members of the Secretariat to the Climate Change Advisory Council and international/national experts. The steering committee may also include one or more of the evaluators who reviewed the proposal during the evaluation process.

The principal investigator and project participants will be required to attend six-monthly steering committee meetings, and present results from their research. These meetings will be organised by the EPA and the principal investigator.

Recommendations provided by the Steering Committee must be considered and implemented where possible.

6. Deviation from the Original Proposal

The Grantee should ensure that the project is not altered or adjusted without prior written consent from the EPA.

Project Time Extension (with no additional cost)

In the event of a project encountering delays, it is the responsibility of the Grantee to request a no cost time extension from the EPA as soon as it has become clear the project will not be completed within the agreed timeframe.

Project Extension (with supplementary funding)

Supplementary funding to further or more closely investigate results from the project may be granted in exceptional circumstances. The work may take place prior to or after the original project completion date.

Requests for supplementary funding must be suggested at least 3 months prior to the completion date of the project to the project Steering Committee, who will make a recommendation to the EPA as to whether the Principal Investigator should be invited by the EPA to submit a written proposal for an additional cost extension. Proposals must be submitted using the appropriate application form (which will be made available as part of the invitation to submit a proposal). The work must be clearly additional to the work outlined in the original project proposal and must demonstrate significant added value to the project. Requests for supplementary work will only be considered in circumstances where the original reporting requirements for the project are completed in full to the satisfaction of the EPA. Supplementary funding will be strictly limited to a maximum value equal to 50% of the original project budget and subject to the availability of such funding from the EPA.

Maternity, Paternity and Adoptive Leave

The EPA will consider the provision of additional funding (in respect of the relevant statutory leave period) in circumstances over the course of the project where a member of the research team exclusively funded by the EPA makes an application for maternity, adoptive or paternity leave. Each application will be considered on a case by case basis and is subject to additional funding being available to the EPA. For further details please refer to the EPA Research Policy on Maternity, Paternity and Adoptive Leave.

Budget Reallocation

When required, the Grantee may request a partial reallocation of funds across the different cost categories of the budget which may include Salary, Consumables, Equipment, Travel & Subsistence and External Assistance. Normally, the total re-allocation between budget categories should not exceed 15% of the total project budget. The Grantee should ensure that any proposed reallocation is within the agreed budget. Should there be a communications budget indicated, reallocation of budgeted Communication costs is subject to EPA approval.

Reallocations between participants may be permitted in exceptional circumstances subject to the agreement of the relevant member of the EPA overseeing the project.

Travel Outside the UK and EU

Actual travel and related subsistence costs (including those based on approved mileage and subsistence rates) for personnel working on the project are fully reimbursable and may be charged to the project, provided that the costs comply with the participants normal practices in this regard and do not exceed Revenue Approved Civil Service Mileage and Subsistence rates. Where such costs are incurred, they must be reasonable, separately identifiable, limited to the actual cost and should be a specific requirement for the implementation of the funded initiative. The prior approval of the EPA is required for travel to any destination outside the UK and EU.

Requests for time extensions, travel outside the UK and EU and budget reallocations will be considered on a case by case basis.

7. Project Outputs and Final Deliverables

For all projects, expected outputs and final deliverables include but are not limited to:

Policy Briefs

Policy briefs will be required to be used to inform Council and to disseminate the findings of the research with key stakeholders. Please refer to EPA Research Report 131: BRIDGE: Tools for science-policy communication for guidelines on preparing a policy brief.

Final Reports

The EPA requires the principal investigator to submit a draft Final Report to describe the objectives, methodologies, outcomes, etc. of the research. It is important that all participants agree and sign-off on the content of the reports prior to submission to the EPA.

All reports should be submitted to the EPA by the end date of the project.

A short Abstract (max. 700 words) should also be provided. This will be used to describe the Final Report once they become available on the Climate Change Advisory Council website.

Review & Publication of the Final Reports

The final report will be peer-reviewed and should be revised by the project team in order to address any comments/recommendations. In the event of a disagreement, justification should be provided to the EPA explaining why changes recommended were not carried out. The EPA will sign-off on the report(s), once satisfied with the contents.

The principal investigator and participants will be required to assist in the preparation of the final report for publication. All reports (where possible) will be made available on the Climate Change Advisory Council website once released.

Datasets

All significant datasets produced during the research project must be submitted to the EPA at the end of the project. It will be the responsibility of the Grantee to ensure that all project participants provide their respective datasets.

8. Engagement and Communication

Engagement and communication of research findings to stakeholders including policy makers, the research community and the public is a key objective for projects funded by the EPA.

Project participants are encouraged to submit papers relating to the project to peer-reviewed journals and to present findings at national and international conferences. Electronic copies of accepted papers, posters, etc. should be provided to the EPA as part of interim and final reporting requirements.

Workshops may be held throughout the project as appropriate and at conclusion of the project. Any agreed workshops required will be supported by the Climate Change Advisory Council Secretariat.

A budget may not be required for engagement and communication activities. Should a budget be required for activities outlined in the proposal, no more than 5% of the total grant aid over the life of the project is to be allocated to these activities. Any workshops required will be supported by the Climate Change Advisory Council Secretariat and therefore do not require budget allocation in the application.

Media releases must be provided to the EPA prior to issue. A draft of the media release must be sent to the EPA at least 28 working days before the planned release date. The principal investigator is requested to be available to provide an overview/update on the project to the media – e.g. (newspapers, trade magazines, radio or television). For further details, including if/when developing a Press Release, please consult directly with info@climatecouncil.ie

The EPA and the Climate Change Advisory Council logos **are to be included on all project communication activities.** The logos are available in a range of formats. If you require a copy of the logos, please contact info@climatecouncil.ie

The Grantee should acknowledge the support received from the EPA for and on behalf of the Climate Change Advisory Council, and the Irish Government, in any publicity or promotional activities relating to the project and respect copyright laws in any publication with the following standard wording:

"This project is funded by the EPA on behalf of and for the Climate Change Advisory Council. It is administered by the EPA, which has the statutory function of co-ordinating and promoting environmental research."

All project communications must include this disclaimer, and the following standard wording should be used:

"DISCLAIMER: Although every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the material contained in this INSERT MEDIA TYPE, complete accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Neither the Environmental Protection Agency nor the Climate Change Advisory Council, nor the authors accept any responsibility whatsoever for loss or damage occasioned or claimed to have been occasioned, in part or in full, as a consequence of any person acting or refraining from acting, as a result of a matter contained in this INSERT MEDIA TYPE."

9. Termination

A grant may be terminated in whole or in part in circumstances detailed in the Terms and Conditions.

10. Intellectual Property

The EPA funds not-for-profit research intended to generate knowledge for public good purposes and as such expects that outputs / findings should be widely disseminated and made publicly available. The <u>EPA Research</u> <u>Data Archive (SAFER)</u> or another data repository as agreed by the EPA should be used for this purpose.

On completion of a research project, Principal Investigators are granted 12 months of exclusive access to the datasets uploaded to SAFER which they have collected to prepare material for publication in scientific journals.

Where there is a reasonable potential for commercial exploitation of research outputs, the EPA in support of the Climate Change Advisory Council applies the principles of the document <u>Ireland's National IP Protocol 2019</u> to ensure that knowledge arising from its funded research is translated for public benefit.

11. Research Integrity

The EPA places great importance on ensuring that all aspects of the research which it funds is conducted to the highest standards of research integrity. The EPA fully endorses the <u>National Policy Statement on Ensuring</u> <u>Research Integrity in Ireland</u> and the <u>European Code of Conduct for Research Integrity</u> and expects all funded research to abide by the guidelines included therein. The EPA expressly encourages that award holders, and associated project teams, undertake relevant research integrity training on a regular basis

12. Freedom of Information Act

The EPA and/or Climate Change Advisory Council may be obliged to disclose information relating to the project under the Freedom of Information Act 2014 and / or the European Communities (Access to Information on the Environment) Regulations 2007 to 2014. Where the researcher submits any information to the EPA and/or the Climate Change Advisory Council which they consider to be confidential, they must identify this information at the time it is submitted and explain why they consider the information to be confidential. The EPA and/or the Climate

Change Advisory Council will take account of the researcher's request and will endeavour to give effect to it if it considers it to be reasonable; but it cannot guarantee that it will not be obliged to disclose any such information; and the researcher acknowledges this.

13. Data Protection Law

Personal information supplied to the EPA and/or the Climate Change Advisory Council will be stored in electronic and structured manual data formats e.g., hard copy folder or database, for use only in connection with this application and the administration of the research grant award and publication of results. The provisions of Data Protection Legislation shall be complied with by the EPA, the Climate Change Advisory Council and the Grantees with respect to the processing of personal data.

Data Protection Legislation shall mean the Data Protection Acts 1988 to 2018 and Directive 95/46/EC, any other applicable law or regulation relating to the processing of personal data and privacy (including the E-Privacy Directive and the European Communities (Electronic Communications Networks and Services) (Privacy and Electronic Communications) Regulations 2011, as such legislation shall be amended, revised or replaced from time to time, including by operation of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (2016/679) (GDPR) (and laws implementing or supplementing the GDPR and/or the E-Privacy Regulations).

The provisions of the applicable Terms and Conditions with respect to data protection, and the terms of the EPA Privacy Policy, shall apply to the processing of personal data in connection with the research funded by the EPA.

14. Ethical and Gender Issues

If there are ethical or gender issues associated with the subject of a proposal, the applicant must demonstrate that they have been adequately taken into account, indicate which national and international regulations are applicable and explain how they will be respected.

Gender Issues

The principles of the EU gender mainstreaming policy apply to the programme. To this end participants shall be required to report the ratio of males to females working on projects.

Applicants are asked to take action to encourage females to take a lead role in research projects and to demonstrate that they have given full consideration to any potential gender dimension in their proposed research. Applicants may be asked to give evidence of action taken to promote and increase the numbers of females working in projects.

The EPA is committed to ensuring there is appropriate gender balance at all levels of personnel engaged in the research it funds. Applicants will be asked to describe how gender balance will be fostered within their proposed research teams. To this end, applicants are encouraged to have balanced membership of each gender in the proposed project team and to ensure there is balanced participation across the proposed research activities. As stated in the <u>EPA Research Programme Gender Strategy</u>, to fulfil the necessary funding eligibility requirements, Higher Educations Institutions (HEIs) and Technological Universities (TUs) must be committed to attaining the relevant Athena Swan¹ Institutional award by the required timeframe.

Applicants are also requested to demonstrate that they have given full consideration to any potential gender dimension² in the proposed research content.

Ethical Issues - Policy Concerning Research on Human Participants and Materials

Where ethical approval is required for research to be undertaken as part of an EPA-funded award, written evidence of ethical approval from the relevant national or local ethics committee must be provided to the EPA in advance of that aspect of the research commencing. Funding for the project will be withheld until written confirmation of ethical approval is received and acknowledged by the EPA. Where ethical approval is required for research to be undertaken as part of an EPA-funded award from the beginning of that award, evidence of ethical approval will be required before funding can be awarded by the EPA.

15. Open Access of Publications and Data

Open Access

All project-based awards and fellowships funded by the EPA are required to ensure open access via Green³ methods.

Further details are available in the <u>Guidelines on Open Access to Scientific Publications and Research Data in</u> Horizon 2020 and Open access to publications and data in Horizon 2020: Frequently Asked Questions.

Open Data

¹ <u>https://www.ecu.ac.uk/equality-charters/athena-swan/athena-swan-ireland/</u>

² https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/docs/h2020-funding-guide/cross-cutting-issues/gender_en.htm

³ Self-archiving / 'green' open access – the author, or a representative, archives (deposits) the published article or the final peer-reviewed manuscript in an online repository before, at the same time as, or after publication. Some publishers request that open access be granted only after an embargo period has elapsed.

It is also a requirement for all funded projects that the research data needed to validate the results presented in their scientific publications is deposited via the <u>EPA Research Data Archive (SAFER)</u>, or another data repository as agreed with the EPA.

Data and information resources generated by projects are part of a very wide spectrum of outputs which includes, but is not limited to: quantitative and qualitative datasets, databases, GIS layers, geographical data, geographic imagery, project presentations, posters, abstracts, surveys and questionnaires, photographs, audio or visual recordings, software code and software libraries, mobile and smartphone applications, computer models and simulations, pre-prints of PhD and M.Sc. theses, Standard Operating Procedures (SOP), etc.

Each project funded by the EPA is expected to deposit data and information resources on SAFER or another data repository as agreed with the EPA. This will vary from project to project. Every project should engage in discussions with the EPA from an early stage in their funding to agree what data and information resources will be archived and subsequently disseminated as open data. Data and information resources must be generated by the project itself. Consequently, this requirement does not include the deposition of data and information resources such as Ordnance Survey mapping and imagery or other commercially obtained resources.

Bibliographic Metadata

Additionally, Grantees must ensure open access, through the SAFER or another data repository as agreed with the EPA, to the bibliographic metadata that identify the deposited publication, and which must include:

- i. The terms "Environmental Protection Agency", "Climate Change Advisory Council" and "Climate Change Ireland";
- ii. The publication date, and length of embargo period (in the case of green open access), and
- iii. A persistent identifier (e.g. the grant number, Digital Object Identifier (DOI), ISBN etc)

We recommend that authors retain their copyright and grant adequate licenses to publishers.

16. Further Information

Any enquiries relating to the above should be addressed to info@climatecouncil.ie